

Brigham Young University BYU ScholarsArchive

Theses and Dissertations

2014-12-01

The Importance of Place in an Era of Placelessness? Distance's Influence on Community Satisfaction and Attachment

Matthew L. McKnight Brigham Young University - Provo

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd

Part of the Sociology Commons

BYU ScholarsArchive Citation

McKnight, Matthew L., "The Importance of Place in an Era of Placelessness? Distance's Influence on Community Satisfaction and Attachment" (2014). *Theses and Dissertations*. 4272. https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd/4272

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by BYU ScholarsArchive. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of BYU ScholarsArchive. For more information, please contact scholarsarchive@byu.edu, ellen_amatangelo@byu.edu.



The Importance of Place in an Era of Placelessness? Distance's Influence

on Community Satisfaction and Attachment

Matthew L. McKnight

A thesis submitted to the faculty of Brigham Young University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Scott R. Sanders, Chair Vaughn R.A. Call Benjamin G. Gibbs

Department of Sociology

Brigham Young University

December 2014

Copyright © 2014 Matthew L. McKnight

All Rights Reserved



ABSTRACT

The Importance of Place in an Era of Placelessness? Distance's Influence on Community Satisfaction and Attachment

Matthew L. McKnight Department of Sociology, BYU Master of Science

The powerful influence of global consumerism and its strong effect on rural communities has led to calls for the "death of distance" and for the placelessness of community. However, skepticism remains that all unique elements of communities of place have been erased from rural life. Using data from Montana (N=3,508), this research investigates how distance, size, and other spatially-bound factors influence sentiments of community satisfaction and attachment in communities of place. Findings suggest that distance can decrease community satisfaction in highly rural communities and increase attachment in rural communities along the urban fringe. Perceived satisfaction with community services was a key unanticipated finding as the strongest predictor of community satisfaction *and* attachment. Therefore, this research argues that even though rural areas are being transformed through global consumerism, levels of community satisfaction and attachment continue to be diverse across place in significant but nuanced ways because of distance and community services.

Keywords: distance, place, rural, sentiment, community satisfaction, community attachment



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Never is there enough space to convey the many thanks owed to those who make theses possible. My thesis's ideas come from many; the support to write it from many more. Here, I would like to thank my graduate committee, Scott Sanders, Vaughn Call, and Benjamin Gibbs, for their numerous insights and significant encouragement to continue the process of finishing this thesis. I would also like to thank my family. Without their loving support, I would not have been able to accomplish this goal. They supported me during times of intense personal struggle due to unusual circumstances and gave me the strength to persevere. Above all, I am grateful for a loving God who has always been by my side, shaping me into something greater than I would be on my own. Ultimately, it is only because of His kindness that I have made it this far.

I dedicate this master's thesis to Ralph B. Brown, my mentor, colleague, and friend. I owe my whole professional career to Ralph. The topic of this thesis, distance's influence on community satisfaction and attachment, was Ralph's idea. My hope is that Ralph's academic legacy will live on through this paper, and many more to come.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	1
Literature Review	4
Community of Place	6
Community Satisfaction and Attachment	9
Distance's Relationship to Community Satisfaction and Attachment	11
Montana—the Context	15
Methods	17
Data Collection	17
Data Operationalization	18
Dependent Variables	18
Independent Variables	19
Data Analysis	23
Results	24
Descriptives	24
Ordinal Logistic Regressions	25
Discussion	31
Conclusion	38
References	40
Main Findings	48
Appendix	55



LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	
Table 2	
Table 3	
Table 4	
Table 5	
Table 6	
Table 7	



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	
Figure 2	
Figure 3	



INTRODUCTION

It is reasonable to think that place no longer matters. Clarion calls such as the "Death of geography" and the "Death of Distance" note the place-shattering influence of modern distance destroying technologies in a global world (Cairneross 1997; Martin 2002). Today, the waves of globalization and consumerism wash over social institutions of power and heavily influence individual choice (Bauman 2001, 2007; Friedman 2006). The force of neo-liberalism has impacted American community life by lowering people's connectivity to particular community participation (Putnam 2001). When taking these global changes into consideration, it is hard to acknowledge that communities differ anymore from one another.

Even rural places that were once thought of as symbols of traditional community have become increasingly tied to economic and cultural institutions of urban life, blending rural and urban life (Brown 1993, Brown, Hudspeth, and Odem 1996). Rural communities that have been agricultural/production industries are restructuring into markets of consumption to feed globalization by treating rural areas as amenities to be consumed (Green 2001; Ritzer 2005). Migration from metropolitan areas to rural communities creates cultural changes, which occasionally clash with rural cultural interpretations of community (Salamon 2003), blurring the lines of rural and urban ways of life (Lichter and Brown 2011). More recently, highly rural areas also can feel these effects through out-migration (Ulrich-Schad, Henly, and Safford 2013) and economic dependence on recreation or extraction (Carrington and Hogg 2011; Smith, Humprheys, and Wilson 2008). These results lead community scholars to suggest that community differences may now be replaced with cultural and economic uniformity (Flaherty and Brown 2010).



While one cannot refute that the influence of global consumerism and monoculture are pervasive, key spatial trends continue to occur across communities of place. Some scholarly works in particular have recognized the influential impact that place can have on local politics (Wuthnow 2013), poverty (Nord, Luloff, and Jensen 1995; Voss et al. 2006), and social capital (Rutten, Westlund, and Boekema 2010). This is especially important for rural sociologists who have mentioned how influential new neo-liberal policies have been in creating spatial marginality in rural places (Lichter and Johnson 2007; Lobao 1996). Even in wider circles, there has been clear calls to incorporate spatial effects into sociological research place-based phenomenon (Gieryn 2000).

Distance is one way to measure how place continues to matter in forming community by testing how well it predicts individual sentiments of physical communities. Subjective perceptions of communities of place have shown signs that they may be influenced by distance. Research has shown that community satisfaction has shifted over time because of changes in distance. Residents from both rural and urbanized areas usually rate their community high on satisfaction but some places report lower levels of community satisfaction than other places (Campbell, Converse, and Rodgers 1976; Campbell 1981; Marans and Rodgers 1975; Ploch 1985; Rodgers 1980). In particular, longitudinal research on rural residents across the 20th century report that rural resident views of how well their community fit with their conception of an ideal community significantly decreased by the end of the 20th century (Brown et al. 1998). This shift paralleled the history of diminishing distance between urbanized zones and self-containing rural communities (Brown and Schafft 2011; Galpin 1915). Decreased levels of living in an ideal community for rural residents also occurred during a time where the population size of rural communities was decreasing through the rural brain-drain and the incorporation of



communities along the urban fringe into metropolitan zones (Carr and Kefalas 2009; Fuguitt, Heaton, and Lichter 1988). This trend could mean that because rural communities are shifting, rural resident's perceptions that their communities are not as ideal as the past may be affected by the lessening of distance between urbanite consumer ideology and rural notions of sustainability.

In addition, research on sentiments of community attachment have long shown that the degree to which people feel about their connection to their community does not differ in rural (Flaherty and Brown 2010) or urban settings (Kasarda and Janowitz 1974). Both rural and urban residents alike feel they are a part of some community. However, when it comes to behavioral indicators of community attachment, rural areas show key differences. Social bonds, or behavioral indicators of community attachment, can be stronger in rural areas because of the smaller size of the community allows for more daily interactions with other residents (Wilkinson 1991; Wuthnow 2013). However, as more rural communities become more closely knit with urban dwellers or new rural residents from urban places, they may create more social bonds with those that did not traditionally exist in the community. Therefore, though a sense of community exists across place, rural communities that are smaller and outside of metropolitan areas may have stronger sentiments of community attachment because they report more social bonds to larger amounts of their community than other larger rural communities closer to urbanized areas that create more intertwined networks but do not connect to as high a percentage of their community residents as small-town communities do.

This research argues that sentiments of community satisfaction and attachment still change across places. Distance to urban centers can play a major role in how residents view their own community and its ability to provide them with goods and services as well as how well the rural community connects to each other. Remoteness may very well still play a significant role in



www.manaraa.com

how satisfied and attached a resident is to their community because of the lack of services that offer more opportunities to connect as a community. Additionally, smaller rural communities of place are qualitatively different than other rural places because of the scale at which their daily interaction takes place (Wuthnow 2013). Other spatial elements of place could also be influencing sentiments of community satisfaction and attachment depending upon whether rural communities have particular services, natural resources, or demographic differences.

With this in mind, this study examines how sentiments of community satisfaction and attachment are affected by the distance residents live from urban centers. This research argues that even though rural communities today have closer ties with urban centers through urbanization and suburbanization, the death of distance has not yet fully occurred. The life of a rural community continues to be predicted by spatial sensitive elements of distance, population size, and how strongly community services are in the community. Accounting for place still continues to matter in studying rural community, even in an age of increasing placelessness.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Similar to early sociologists who observed the transformation of community through urbanization during the industrial period, scholars now suggest a reversal trend where more urban dwellers are moving to rural areas causing a new transformation in how rural communities operate (Lichter and Brown 2011; Salamon 2003a). As early as 1915, rural areas were becoming more connected with regional towns (Galpin 1915). Main streets, places of economic and social importance to small-towns, closed because of increasing regional area competition near the end of the twentieth century. Rural community life became more dependent upon more economic trade centers further away (Brown et al. 1996). By the turn of the twenty-first century, rural regional commuting zones, or rural areas economically and socially dependent on a regional



center, are increasingly becoming the norm in larger rural areas (Salamon 2003). Some other rural communities that are more remote and less populated have either experienced mass inmigration for natural resource industry (Smith, Krannich, and Hunter 2001), waste services that are not wanted closer to urban centers (Murdock, Krannich, and Leistritz 1999), or experience higher levels of poverty because of higher levels of out-migration (Foulkes and Newbold 2008). Rural communities who are lucky enough to entice former residents to return who left for educational and vocational pursuits may help enhance their community, but returning residents also bring back new more current views from more metropolitan areas (Reichert, Cromartie, and Arthun 2014). This new state of rural community change includes the lessening of distance through interconnecting spatial boundaries between rural and urban communities. Rural and urban places are becoming more intertwined spatially, socially, and economically than ever before.

As the blurring of rural community continues to occur, it is unclear what changes in community satisfaction and attachment have occurred as well. Several studies in the past have provided details into how this blurring of spatial boundaries influence community satisfaction and attachment (Buttel, Martinson, and Wilkening 1979; Campbell 1981; Goudy 1990; Marans and Rodgers 1975; Ploch 1985; Rodgers 1980; Theodori and Luloff 2000), with only a few including a variable measuring distance (Erickson, Call, and Brown 2012; Flaherty and Brown 2010). There has been a history of debate in community studies about whether ecological traits such as size and density are significant when studying community (Flaherty and Brown 2010; Kasarda and Janowitz 1974; Wirth 1938), yet more recent work in sociology at large has required sociologists to again take into consideration spatial elements when observing social phenomenon because of the importance in accounting for differences across space (Gieryn 2000;



Trentelman 2009). This research informs this debate by providing more detailed measures of distance and other spatial effects that influence rural communities of place.

Community of Place

Community of place, or spatially-bounded community, differs from other community definitions by consisting of a geographically bounded space wherein people live, interact, and have a sense of what that place means to them (Manzo and Perkins 2006; Nasar and Julian 1995; Salamon 2003a). Studying community of place is important to community literature because of the value social actors assign to a place that in return affects what kind of community exists in that place. Early scholarly conceptions of place came from human geography. Yi-Fu Tuan, one of the first geographic theorists of place, noted that physical space is imbued with social meaning by the social actors that live within it. Places are geographical areas embedded with certain attributes that social actors assign to them (Tuan 1977). As particular notions of place are codified in norms of reciprocity, they become more permanent aspects of the community experience between those who live in that place. A place becomes imbued with the meanings that social groups label it and subsequently takes on unique characteristics. Because social interactions occur in a place, a place can also become a symbol of the values, beliefs, and behaviors that a group of social actors attach to it. The meaning of the place wherein the community resides is shaped by what social actors live within that space and what value they attribute to place (Trentelman 2009).

Therefore, community of place can be considered more than just a physical location. Any community has spatial elements to it such as size, density, physical landscape, but those living in a community attach meanings to what those spatial effects mean. Gieryn (2000) emphasized that a "place" must have (1) a geographic location, (2) material form, such as a built environment,



www.manaraa.com

and (3) invested meaning and value—what the place means to people who live in it. In other words, place is subjectively interpreted space. It is not only a geographic location. The location of a place provides a geographic space for social activities to occur, and can influence the social meanings and interaction between people and communities (see Altman and Low 1992; Relph 1976; Tuan 1977).

Places may have different values depending upon the cultural and personal norms that are created by those living in that place. Rural, suburban, and urban communities of place have different values that they attribute to the place where each lives. Hummon (1990) argued that American life has long been divided by place differences created from varied social dynamics. Specifically, he suggested that residents living in urban, suburban, and rural areas created their own unique community ideologies based off of how each of those groups valued their own places. Urbanites valued more diversity and access to many different goods and services. Residents in suburban areas showed less interest in diversity and more in privatization of community. Rural residents value neighborliness and community involvement. Residents in all three of these typographical places create their own biased views towards places different than their own. Building off of Hummon's work, place is related to community in that social actors fashion their own view of the place in which they experience what kind of community they themselves create and re-create. Because community is rooted in place it can control what meanings of place exist as well as what kind of social interactions occur there.

Additionally, the amount of people that exist in a particular place can also effect what kind of community exists that place. Rural small-towns in the US differ from urban metropolitan areas because of the scale in which daily social interactions occur. Wuthnow (2013) commented, "It isn't just that people in small towns are inherently friendlier, easier to get along with, or more



www.manaraa.com

civically oriented. The difference [in small towns] is that smallness shapes social networks, behavior, and civic commitments" (p. 361.). From this approach, not only is it important to acknowledge the spatial effects of place or the social actors that exist in a community of place, but also acknowledging that the size in which social interaction occurs in a community of place. In other words, place is shaped not only by the values that social actors attribute to place but also by how many social actors interact within place. The amount of social actors that live and interact in a community matters because when a community is smaller there is less options of interaction it creates a "small-town" feel and it has fewer amounts of available relational networks. Both the distance from larger urban centers and the population size of a community affect the types of communities that are formed in rural places.

The effects of distance and smaller size are intensified in highly rural, or remote, areas. The extensive distances to remote rural communities makes it difficult to provided adequate services, such as needed healthcare (Wagenfeld 2000). Additionally, the smaller size of remote communities requires most community residents to specialize in a particular industry such as recreation/tourism or resource extraction that fuels the on-going economic regionalization of rural areas for the global market (Carrington and Hogg 2011; Reeder and Brown 2005). However, since these remote communities usually rely on one particular specialized industry, seasonal effects or economic downturns can be devastating to the life of the community (Brown, Dorius, and Krannich 2005; Carson 2011; Kelly et al. 2011; Smith et al. 2008). Remote distance from urban centers and small population size continue to play a major role in how community is formed and experienced in highly rural communities.



Community Satisfaction and Attachment

Two dimensions that explain what community exists and how they are maintained in place are community satisfaction and attachment. Community satisfaction and attachment are highly related theoretically but are separate concepts (Brown et al. 2000). Both have often been measured as the sentimental and subjective feelings residents have about their communities and therefore are tied greatly to community sentiment literature often found in community psychology (Crowe 2010; Flaherty and Brown 2010; Kasarda and Janowitz 1974). Community sentiment has been studied as a higher-level concept as the sentimental, or affective, feelings that people associate with their communities (Hummon 1992; McMillan and Chavis 1986). While community sentiment is linked to space, time, and interactions with people, community sentiment is not an objective external experience. Community sentiments are the subjective and imagined views that a person has about their community. In other words, community sentiments denote the subjective experience and subsequent attitudes and feelings that a resident may have about their community of place. Lower level concepts of community sentiment are community satisfaction and community attachment (Crowe 2010; Hummon 1992).

Community satisfaction is dimension of community of place that is similar to but separate from community attachment. Community satisfaction is used as a subjective indicator of objective conditions that occur in a community of place. Three main concepts that are associated with this form of community satisfaction are services and the social environment. Services have been identified as an important element of community satisfaction since the 1990's. Instead of exclusively being defined as a local community indicator like community attachment, community satisfaction is a "more global scope of local community life" (p. 433), meaning that it can resemble how well a community is serving an individual in light of what options are



available in the mass consumer society (Brown et al. 2000). Second, the subjective evaluation of the social environment is also related to community satisfaction (Filkins, Allen, and Cordes 2000; Goudy 1977; Herting and Guest 1985). It has recently been suggested that evaluations of local services and physical environment are even stronger predictors of community satisfaction than merely the social environment (Bernard 2014). This means that it is important to consider the subjective evaluation of community services and natural amenities in addition to other elements of the social environment when seeking to understand community satisfaction.

Evidence of how community satisfaction relates to local community and its relation with market shifts was investigated in Brown (1998) by observing community satisfaction scores across the twentieth century. Brown found that overtime rural residents rated their communities as less satisfying than they did at the beginning of the century as their ideal community. Possible explanations could account for this trend. One explanation that is that as large rural transformations to local markets, out migration, and farming practices occurred in the latter half of the twentieth century, rural residents felt a sense of loss about their communities. Another explanation is that as more rural areas came in contact with the better goods and services provided in more metropolitan areas, they sensed a loss of opportunities in their own communities. In either case, this explanation shows how community satisfaction is a subjective indicator of objective conditions in a community of place and how it has been affected in rural areas at the end of the 20th century.

In contrast to community satisfaction, community attachment measures the amount or intensity of connections a resident has to a specific geographically bounded place. Community attachment literature grew out of Kasarda and Janowitz's (1974) work on the systemic model that claimed sentiments and social bonds were better predictors of community than size or



density. Though there is no agreed upon definition of community attachment, many scholars note that it encapsulates a resident's sentimental and behavioral bonds to their community (Beggs, Hurblert, and Haines 1996; Crowe 2010; Flaherty and Brown 2010; Gerson, Stueve, and Fischer 1977). This definition of community attachment includes both subjective attitudes about community as well as the objective measured behaviors of community. In addition, because community attachment only determines how connected and individual is to their community, it does not moralize the connection as being positive or negative, and therefore could inherently be one or the other depending upon the circumstance in which people find themselves (Basso 1996; Brown et al. 2000).

Distance's Relationship to Community Satisfaction and Attachment

In spite of the large body of community sentiment research, it remains unclear how community satisfaction and attachment are changing because of the blurring lines across distance from rural to urban areas. Although some research provides some inclinations to what may be occurring across distance, the question about the relation between distance and community satisfaction and attachment has not been directly studied (Brown and Schafft 2011; Flaherty and Brown 2010; Kasarda and Janowitz 1974; Wuthnow 2013).

Spatial differences in community satisfaction have led to conclusive yet general results. Rural and urban residents usually rate their community high on satisfaction (Campbell et al. 1976) and even though rural areas traditionally rate their communities higher then urbanites do (Campbell 1981; Marans and Rodgers 1975; Ploch 1985; Rodgers 1980), some rural places report lower levels of community satisfaction than the other rural counterparts. For example, rural communities with population's less than five hundred residents report less satisfaction with community services than rural communities with larger populations (Ellis et al. 2012). Overall



there has been a shift in rural America at large where at the end of the 20th century more rural residents reported that their communities did not fit with their ideal community than at the beginning (Brown et al. 1998). This shift paralleled the history of diminishing distance between urbanized zones and self-containing rural communities. This could mean that because rural communities are changing, rural resident perceptions that their communities are not as ideal as the past maybe affected by the lessening of distance between urban consumer ideology and rural notions of sustainability.

Also, in contrast to urban places, rural places may experience feelings of being "stuck in place" where even though they say they are satisfied with their community there may be other reasons why they want to leave it, such as population loss or loss of economy (Erickson et al. 2012). Community satisfaction could therefore vary across distance where pockets of lack of services or access to services could potentially reduce community satisfaction. Yet, on the other hand, rural areas that have higher physical amenities and sustainable economies may show higher levels of community satisfaction (Reeder and Brown 2005).

A new emerging technological change to rural communities that may be affecting community satisfaction is the Internet. Being far removed from urban norms and products, Internet access now provides many rural residents with a connection into mass society without being completely immersed in the daily activities of urban life. Erickson et al. (2012) found that access to Internet could potentially decrease community satisfaction in rural areas by providing rural residents with an appetite for ideas and goods not found within their own communities. In this sense, rural residents may perceive their own communities of place as less positive when they perceive a lack of service seen in urban areas while still residing within their rural communities. Yet other studies find that Internet access in rural areas can lead to more



community involvement (Stern and Dillman 2006; Stern et al. 2008; Sternberg et al. 2009; Wellman et al. 1996). From these two viewpoints, it remains to be settled how dimensions of community could be affected differently by of Internet access in rural areas

In contrast to findings of community satisfaction, differences in rural and urban sentiments of community attachment have been largely inconclusive (Buttel et al. 1979; Goudy 1990; Stinner et al. 1990; Theodori 2001; Theodori and Luloff 2000). Specifically, research looking at the ecological effects on community attachment has led to conflicting results (Hummon 1990; Taylor, Gottfredson, and Brower 1985; Theodori and Luloff 2000), and research on sentiments of community attachment has long shown that the way people feel about their connection to their community does not differ in rural or urban settings (Flaherty and Brown 2010; Kasarda and Janowitz 1974). In the end, most studies of sentiments of community attachment report that both rural and urban residents feel like they are a part of some community in similar ways. Therefore, the effect of spatial differences in community attachment continues to be inconsistent and requires further research.

That being said, behavioral indicators of community attachment show key differences rural areas. Social bonds can be stronger in rural areas because the smaller size of the community allows for more daily interactions with other residents (McKnight and Brown 2014; Wuthnow 2013). Yet rural areas that are more closely knit with urban dwellers or new rural residents from urban places can create more social bonds with those that did not traditionally exist in the community (Brown and Schafft 2011). Therefore, though a sense of community exists across place, rural communities that are smaller and exist outside of metropolitan commuting zones may report stronger community attachment than other larger rural communities along commuting corridors.



In addition to behavioral elements of community attachment, there remains plenty of highly remote rural areas that continue to exist outside the commuting fringe that may report different levels of community sentiment than other rural areas. In 2010, 33.7 million Americans still lived in rural areas with populations less than 25,000 and outside of metropolitan areas (Wuthnow 2013). Remote rural areas consist of their own unique characteristics because of their isolation. It is well documented that some key remote regions of the US have high poverty rates (Lichter and Johnson 2007) or lack access to health services such as mental health or primary care physicians that could allow for better overall health in the community (McDonald, Harris, and LeMesurier 2005; Sanders et al. 2014). Therefore, remote rural areas may be operating differently when considering community satisfaction and attachment. Qualitative research on small-towns suggests that the strong community ties may still contribute to frontier residents' strong satisfaction with their community, depending upon whether public symbols of community continue to exist, such as main streets or town cafes (Wuthnow 2013). Beyond these findings, the community sentiment literature knows very little of how remote rural residents affectively feel about their communities.

With this understanding of how distance, size, and remoteness influence the community sentiments of residents in communities of place, this research investigates how community satisfaction and attachment have been affected by the recent rural transformations that have affected spatial aspects of community. This research asserts community satisfaction and attachment that are influenced differently across distance. Community satisfaction should be lower in communities beyond the urban fringe because of the perception that they do not have access to as many resources. Community satisfaction should go back up in remote rural areas because their connection to place outweighs their inability to access the consumer market.



Community attachment should increase in communities that are more rural and less populated. As noted in the literature, the lower population size of a community usually has a positive influence on community sentiments of satisfaction and attachment because of the more bonded social fabric that exists in smaller rural communities, so far as race and income are controlled for. The Internet may also be lowering satisfaction with rural residents by injecting new views of what opportunities are available outside of rural communities or possibly be too remote to use online delivery services. And finally, specific place-based indicators that focus on the economic, natural, and demographics elements of community may reveal how localized circumstance can create marginal effects on community satisfaction and attachment. In light of these expectations, this research tests one hypothesis on distance:

 Across distance, community satisfaction will drop in communities beginning in the urban fringe and go back up again in highly rural areas, and community attachment will increase from urban to highly rural communities.

This hypothesis would be ideally studied in an area with highly rural populations and urban centers to see how distance from metropolitan areas affects community satisfaction and attachment. An ideal study area would also have a diverse amount of communities, suburbanization, and differing relationships to the physical landscape.

Montana—the Context

To more clearly understand how the narrowing of spatial and social boundaries has affected community satisfaction and attachment, Montana is the study area used to test this hypothesis. Montana is an ideal setting to study emerging rural transformations. Montana is the third most rural state in the US, behind Alaska and Wyoming, with 6.8 people per square mile, but also has three comparative urban centers over 50,000 residents (Census 2014). Eighty-two



percent of Montana's counties are considered frontier areas which allows this study to also consider highly remote populations that are not always accounted for in studies of rural places (RAC 2014) yet considers other rural areas closer to urban centers along commuting lanes that have undergone recent suburbanization.

Montana has also experienced a large increase of in-migration as a retiree state (Wrinkler et al. 2013), with a net migration rate of 46.5 from 2000 to 2010 (Young and Zimmerman 2013).¹ Most of the immigration to Montana has been to the higher amenity western portion of the state (Young and Zimmerman 2013), creating a suburbanization of rural communities near Missoula and Kalispell where recreation and retirement areas are more pervasive. However, eastern portions of the state that exist on the high plains experience higher outmigration than western communities, particularly from young people which creates brain drain (Carr and Kefalas 2009; Young and Zimmerman 2013). The eastern portion of the state has fewer recreational amenities but has more agricultural and mining counties, with new residents moving in to several highly rural eastern Montana communities because of the oil fracking boom from the Bakken Shale Formation (Eaton 2014). Montana a state experiencing suburbanization with more newcomers, while at the same time revealing rural areas that still exist well beyond the urban fringe, making it a useful context to study how recent rural transformations relate to community satisfaction as well as attachment in highly varied rural areas while comparing it to the urban communities that exist in Montana

¹ Calculated using data from Young and Zimmerman (2013) on net migration and US census population in 2010.



METHODS

Data Collection

The Montana data for this study comes from the Montana Health Matters 2010 survey (MHM). MHM collected a state-wide random sample of rural and highly rural populations with an urban comparison group. Respondents were asked questions relating to their communities and health. Specific categories of community questions collected were community satisfaction and attachment, social bonds, length of residence, and evaluation of local community services.

Data collection for this study came from the United States Postal Service's computerized Delivery Sequence File from which a random sample was drawn. This file contains every known address in Montana. Once the addresses were acquired, each household was drawn using a twostage, stratified sampling design. The first stage consisted of ZIP codes which were randomly drawn with replacement from highly rural, rural, and urban strata following the Veteran's Health Administration (VHA) definition of rural (West et al. 2010). Rural was considered areas outside of Census Urbanized Areas and highly rural as counties with 6 or fewer residents per square mile. These three areas were converted into 62 ZIP codes (West 2009). The second stage consisted of drawing a random sample of 5,700 households from the 62 first stage ZIP codes. Approximately 1,200 of these addresses were returned from the list provider without a household name. These "no name" addresses were left in the sample to avoid any potential coverage errors.

Once the 5,700 households were selected, a multi-method, five-wave mail/telephone survey was implemented using the Dillman approach from September 2010-July 2011 (Dillman, Smyth, and Christian 2009). A small honorarium was included in the first mailed surveys to increase response rates. At the end of the data collection there were 3,510 respondents of which there were 1,391 from rural areas, 1,628 from highly rural areas (< 7 people per square mile),



and 491 from Urban areas for a comparison group. The overall adjusted household response rate was 52 percent. Weights were created for the sample that take into consideration multi-stage cluster sampling design, ineligible households, and survey nonresponse, making the data with the weights a representative sample for the state of Montana.

Missing data was resolved using multiple imputations using chained equations. Multiple imputations generates possible values for any missing values based off of the variance that already occurs in the dataset. It draws multiple imputed samples of generated values for missing values into one larger dataset (SSCC 2013). The *mi impute* command in Stata 13 was used to create 20 imputations, or new sets of imputed data, to account for the missing scores. Each imputed dataset was separated by 150 iterations. The *mi estimate* command was used to analyze each dataset and combine datasets using Rubin's rules which resulted in a final sample size of 3,508. These results were weighted and stratified using Stata's *svyset* command to create a more representative sample of Montana for analysis.

Data Operationalization

Dependent Variables

To study the effects of distance and place on community, four dependent variables are used in ordinal logistic regression analysis. To capture a more multidimensional view of community experience (Brown et al. 2000), one indicator of community satisfaction and three community attachment indicators are used. The community satisfaction measure asked respondents, "how satisfied are you with living in your community?" on a Likert scale from 1-7 with 1 being dissatisfied and 7 being satisfied. Three measures of community attachment are used and follow the systemic model approach. Two community attachment variables asking



about "common" and "fit" follow a seven point Likert scale and asked respondents "how much do you have in common with most of the people in your community" and "how well do you feel that you fit into your community." Both of these measures have been validated by the past community literature (Brown et al. 2000; Filkins et al. 2000). The final community attachment measure asked "how well you like living in your present community," also commonly referred to as a "sorry to leave" measure on a five point Likert scale from 1 to 5 (Flaherty and Brown 2010 Kasarda and Janowitz 1974).

Independent Variables

Distance from urban centers is used as the key independent variable. As discussed above, changes in rural community life through urbanization, suburbanization, and economic trade centers, have closed the gap in distance from urban people and rural populations, but some key unique spatial differences may still exist. Using ArcGIS 10, each respondent address was geocoded. Then straight-line distance between each responded and the closest urban centers with a population greater than 50,000, was measured and coded for each respondent in the survey.² For a more informed analysis this distance measure was then re-coded into four thresholds. For practical purposes, each threshold measures the approximate distance it would rationally take for residents to travel to an urban center in hours: (1) "0-55 miles = 1 hour," (2) "55.01-110 miles = 2 hours," (3) "110.01-165 miles = 3 hours," and (4) "165.01+ miles = over three hours away."

A satisfaction with community services scale is provided as another control variable of community attachment. Community services can shape perceptions of community sentiment and direct resident interaction (Brown et al. 1996; Filkins et al. 2000). Ten attitudinal measures of

 $^{^{2}}$ The points to which respondents distances were measured were centroid points of each urban area's main census place. This means that even those who live within an urban area will potentially have a distance score above 0.



different community services are used to create the scale, each ranging from 1-7 with 1 "Badly needs improvement" to 7 "Exceptional." Each of these questions asked about how satisfied an individual was with the specific service in their local community. The ten different measures of community services used to create the scale are: Housing in community, shopping facilities, law enforcement, roads, fire protection, healthcare, restaurants, recreation in and near the community, availability of child daycare, and facilities for the elderly. An additive index was created and divided by ten, weighting the scale back onto a 7 point scale. The ten measures were indexed together because they were subjective views of objective services. Therefore, though these questions have subjective answers, they may influence other subjective perceptions that residents have about their community, making this scale key to understand the relationship between community services and community satisfaction and attachment.

Two social bond variables are used to measure the effect of social bonds between community members. These indicators of social bonds mirror variables from other systemic model research and measure informal social bonds (Flaherty and Brown 2010; Kasarda and Janowitz 1974). The first informal social bond variable asked respondents about how many people knew by first name, "what percentage of adults in this community would you say that you know on a first name basis?" This variable was coded as (1) "0% - 24%," (2) "25% - 49%," (3) "50% - 74%," and (4) "75% - 100%." The second informal social bond variable considers the number of friends that live in the same community, "About how many close friends do you have who live in your community?" This response was open ended allowing the respondents to record how many friends lived in their community, ranging from 0 to 80. Additionally, length of residence was measured as the proportion of one's life spent in the community by taking the years a respondent lived in their community and dividing it by the respondent's age. This was



done to measure the amount of the life-span a respondent has lived in their community as opposed to only measuring years lived in community. Its use has been verified in past research (Flaherty and Brown 2010).

The Internet is also controlled for in this study to account for rural residents' ability to connect with other places through distance-destroying technology (Martin 2002; Morgan 2004). Internet access is included to account for Montana residents who are able to connect to the global community. Access is coded (1) as any type of electronic access to the Internet and (0) for those who have no access in any form, including no Internet access provided by a cellular provider.

Other variables of interest to community attachment are also used as control variables. Self-reported health is based on a self-reported measure ranging from 1 for "poor" to 5 for "excellent."³ Including this variable accounts for differences in rural and urban health perceptions. Age is coded as the age respondents reported and is used as a continuous variable ranging from 16 to 100. Sex is coded 1 as "female" and 0 as "male." Marital status is coded as 1 for "married" and 0 for any other option. Race is coded 1 as "American Indian/Native American" and 0 as "any other race" because of the particular demographic challenges for Native Americans being the largest minority group in Montana at 3.41%.⁴ Education is dichotomously coded as 1 for "four years of college or more" (BS/BA or more) and 0 for "less than four years of college" for a clearer depiction of how completing a college degree relates to sentiments of community satisfaction and attachment. Total household income is measured with fifteen different categories ranging from "less than \$10,000" to "\$150,000 or more a year." Unemployed is also included

⁴ Approximately 95% of respondents in the sample were White with 2.17% being any other race besides White or Native American.



³ In the survey, this scale was coded with "excellent" coded as one to "poor" coded as five. In order to make better sense of this variable as a continuous variable in analysis, the scale is coded in the reverse.

and coded as persons looking for work or not currently looking for work compared to all other categories: employed, homemakers and retirees.⁵

Two independent community level variables are used to measure how the spatial boundaries of community influence local community sentiments. Population size of the community is used and coded on a 7 categorical as such: (1) less than 500 (2) 500 to 999 (3) 1,000 to 2,499 (4) 2,500 to 4,999 (5) 5,000 to 20,000 (6) 20,001 to 50,000 (7) more than 50,000 (US Census 2013). Recent qualitative literature has suggested that the scale at which social interaction occurs in a community can affect what kind of community experience exists in that place, at least in communities with very small population size (Salamon 2003; Wuthnow 2013). In addition, percentage of population loss from 2000 to 2010 for every community in the survey is included. These percentages by community were taken from the US Census factfinder and from other city-based sources for areas that were too small to be included on the US Census.

Since Montana is a state that covers very large areas of economically different and amenity rich places, four additional control variables addressing county attributes are included. County density is considered continuous, ranging from .7 persons per square mile to 56.2 persons per square mile (US Census 2014). Economic and social indicators of county are also included from the 2004 ERS county typology codes (USDA 2012). Mining dependent counties consist of counties where "15 percent or more of average annual labor and proprietors' earnings" are from mining. ERS county typology codes measuring recreation and retirement counties are also used. Recreation counties are coded using four different data points from the respective county: percentage of employment in service and real estate jobs, percentage of total personal income, percentage of seasonal housing units, and per capita receipts from motel/hotels. All four

⁵ Homemakers were included in this group because they have a different economic situation than those who asserted they were unemployed and therefore in a different economic situation.



data points were converted into a weighted index. Counties were considered recreation counties if they had a weighted score of 0.67 or higher (USDA 2012a). Retirement counties consisted of counties where the number of residents that were aged 60 and above increased by 15 percent over the past ten years (USDA 2012b).

As Montana is a highly varied amenity state, the ERS natural amenity scale and county typology codes are used to control for place-based differences across Montana. The natural amenity scale uses six different indicators measuring the temperature, topography, and water areas which included: warm winter, winter sun, temperate summer, low summer humidity, topographic variation, and water area (USDA 2012). These measures together create a seven point scale from 1 to 7 with 1 being low amenity and 7 being high amenity. This scale is county-level data. In the sample, there were no counties with amenity scores of 1 or 7, and therefore varies from 2-6. For simpler comparison in regression, these 5 scores were combined in to a dichotomous variable that was split at the mean. It was then coded as (1) for higher natural amenity counties and (0) for lower natural amenity counties.

Data Analysis

Analysis includes descriptive data and ordinal logistic regression models. Figure 1 illustrates how far sample communities in the MHM survey are from urban centers. Figure 2 and 3 illustrates how reported community satisfaction and attachment change the further the respondent lives from urban centers. Table 1 provides a descriptive chart for all the variables used in the study. Lastly, table's 2 through 5 provide ordinal logistic regression models for the four dependent variables.



RESULTS

Descriptives

Figure 1 plots the distance of sample communities from urban centers.⁶ A first glance at the figure shows that communities sampled in the MHM 2010 survey have a range starting from for urban communities at 0 all the way to the furthest community at 281 miles from the closest urban center. Three dashed lines representing how many hours communities are from urban centers splits the figure into the four distance categories used for analysis. Each of the first three distance categories share similar frequencies of communities and their gradual distribution across distance. The fourth distance category shows that nine sample communities exist 3 or more hours from urban centers. Further investigation into the characteristics of these nine remote communities reveal that all of them exist in far eastern and North-eastern Montana, creating a regional effect. Since all of these communities exist on the high plains, with lower scores of amenity, it is useful that the last distance variable recode accounts for this particularly unique region in Montana.

Figure 2 and 3 display how individual respondent scores on community satisfaction and attachment change the further the respondent lives from the closest urban center. Figure 2 shows that community satisfaction does not vary in any meaningful way from urban centers all the way to remotely rural areas. This suggests that all respondents felt equally satisfied with their community, at least descriptively. This confirms some past notions that community satisfaction does not vary markedly from various places of residence (Campbell et al. 1976).

⁶ Each community's data point in figure 1 was found by taking the average distance of every respondent living a specific community.



Figure 3, however, does show that community attachment is reportedly higher the more remote a resident becomes. Figure 3 combines all three community attachment variables into one standardized variable for the sake of simplified presentation. Figure 3 shows that the further a resident's location is from an urban center, the higher reported levels of community attachment.⁷ Even prior to inferential statistics, this descriptive finding suggests that sentiments of community attachment do increase the more rural a resident lives. This is a key finding because past research has only shown that behavioral elements of community, like social bonds, increase the further away people live from urban centers. Figures 2 and 3 convey some very important details about distance's relationship to community sentiment variables. It confirms descriptively that community satisfaction does not vary across distance but that community attachment does. Table 1 includes the descriptive statistics for each variable used in regression analysis.

Ordinal Logistic Regressions

Table 2 includes the results of select variables predicting community satisfaction. Model 1 looks only at the recoded distance variables and their relationship with community satisfaction in order to compare its significance with community satisfaction with other before including other controls. The results show no significance for distance when trying to predict community satisfaction alone. Once all individual level variables are accounted for in model 2, distance continues to not significantly predict community satisfaction, but model 2 does show how some key individual level variables are significantly associated with community satisfaction. Satisfaction with community services is the strongest predictor of higher odds of community

⁷ The reader may also be interested to know that the behavioral elements of community attachment, social bonds, follow the same overall trend in the data. As distance from urban centers increases, so do the scores on close friends living in the same community and how many people each respondent knows by first name in their community. Both of these are considered informal ties.



satisfaction. Higher levels of community satisfaction were 101% more likely when satisfaction with community services is higher. Both social bond variables are significant predictors of community satisfaction, with higher levels of how many a respondent knows by first name in their community being 57% more likely to predict a high level of community satisfaction over lower levels. This suggests that social networks in communities, as well as goods and services provided by the community, add to higher community satisfaction. Surprisingly, length of residence is not significant in model 2. Other variables such as age and self-reported health were significantly associated with community satisfaction but minimally influenced the chances of higher community satisfaction. In contrast to other significant variables, unemployment is also significantly associated with community satisfaction but with unemployment being 47% more likely to be associated with lower levels of community satisfaction.

Model 3 in table 2 adds community and county level data to the ordinal logistic regression model. Once these variables are added with the individual level data, the furthest distance category becomes significant. The recoded distance variable reveals that after accounting for all other variables in the model, distance of 3 hours or more from the nearest urban center is 45% more likely to be associated with lowers levels of community satisfaction. Internet access is not significant in either model 2 or 3. The only added community variable that shows a significant association with community satisfaction is the population size of a community. Length of residence become significant in model 3. The population size of a community has less impact on community satisfaction than satisfaction with community services, length of residence, and people known by first name.

Additionally, because higher population size of a community is also associated with lower levels of community satisfaction, community satisfaction is more likely to decrease in



larger communities. Data analysis not shown reveals that population size is the independent variable that influences the distance of 3 hours or more from urban centers to become significant. Here, the first part of the distance hypothesis is found not to hold true past descriptive data, that highly rural respondents have an increasingly higher community satisfaction. The population size finding suggests that smaller communities have higher satisfaction. This finding is worthy to note, because the community literature has debated ever since Wirth's work whether or not size of a community of place really matters to community experience (Flaherty and Brown 2010; Wirth 1938). Overall, community satisfaction is predicted by remote distance, satisfaction with community services, social bonds, and population size of community. The findings disprove the distance hypothesis that posits that distance will effect community satisfaction by having it increase in remote areas.

Next, findings on community attachment dependent variables are reported. Table 3 reports the predicted values of select variables on how well a respondent feels they fit into their community. Model 1 shows that the distance of 3 hours or more from urban centers is significant on its own, while other distance measures are non-significant. This pattern changes in model 2 when individual level predictors are added. Model 2 revels that after accounting for other factors in community satisfaction, a distance of 3 or more hours from an urban center becomes non-significant with the rest of the distance measures. The three strongest predictors of the odds of high community satisfaction in model 2 are: people known by first name, satisfaction with community services, and length of residence, each at the p<.001 level. Self -reported health was also significantly associated with higher community satisfaction. Adding community and county level variables in model 3 makes distances over 3 hours from the nearest urban center significant once again, but changes the direction of its effect. While alone, distance over 175 miles from



urban centers is associated with higher levels of fit in community, but once controlled for by community and county level measures it predicts lower levels of fit in community. Internet access is non-significant in both model 2 and 3. Also important to note is that residents living in counties with higher levels of amenity closely predicts lower levels of fit in community (p=.057).

Table 4 predicts select variables' association with the second community attachment dependent variable that asks respondents how much they have in common with their community. Model 1 shows that distance's relationship with community satisfaction has the same pattern as fit, with distance over 3 hours from urban centers being the only significant measure. Once again, in model 2, the association distance and community attachment is explained away once individual level variables are added. Additionally, people known by first name and satisfaction with community services, were the strongest predictors of high community satisfaction. Length of residence is not significant in table 4, though self-reported health continues to be highly significant. Unique from the other variables of community experience, commonality with others in community is significantly related to whether or not a respondent is married or female. Internet access continues to be non-significant in any model predicting commonality with community.

The change in model 3 when adding community and county level variables is that county density is significantly associated with community satisfaction. County density's relationship with commonality with others in community is that the more density population a county is, people report less commonality with their community. However, density's prediction of higher odds of community attachment is minimal. Also similar to fit in community, lower odds of commonality with community is almost predicted by higher natural amenity (p=.054). It is surprising that higher natural amenity areas are nearly associated with lower levels of community



attachment, but recreation and retirement dependent counties are not. Analysis not shown reveals that, overall, residents in the sample who live in higher amenity counties have lived in their communities for a lesser proportion of their lifespan than those who live in less natural amenity counties. This may suggest that higher natural amenities residents report lower levels of community attachment because they have had less interaction to create stronger social networks with those who live in the community. Overall, the hypothesis has not been found to be true, that distance significantly predicts higher levels of community attachment the further respondents live from urban centers.

Table 5 includes the last community attachment variable predicting how well respondents like living in their community. Differing from the last two community attachment measures, model 1 reveals that two distance measures in the model are significant predictors of higher levels of respondents enjoying the community where they live: distance between 1-2 hours and distance over 3 hours from and urban center. Another difference found between this community attachment indicator and other community attachment indicators is found in model 2 with the two middle distance measures becoming significant instead of the higher remote category. When accounting for individual factors, a distance of 1-2 hours and 2-3 hours from the nearest urban center have a significant relationship with higher odds of respondents liking the community in which they live.

Other significant predictors of how well respondents like living in their community are satisfaction with community services, know by first name, close friends in same community, length of residence, age, and self-reported health. Differing from the other two community attachment variables, length of residence was the strongest predictor of the odds of high community satisfaction, by being 111 percent more likely that an increase in a resident's



proportion of their length of residence predicts high odds of community satisfaction. Unexpectedly, satisfaction with community services was the second strongest predictor of like living, with distance being third. For the first time in the regression models, Internet access becomes significant, with Internet access predicting lower odds of respondents liking the community in which they live. In other words, this finding suggests that having access to the outside world via the Internet can significantly lower how well someone likes where they live. Potentially this is because access to other favorable media, culture, social networks, or other ideas seen on the Internet may be absent from communities in which respondents live, creating a lower satisfaction with their community of place.

Model 3 in table 5 adds community and county level variables to the model predicting how well respondents like living in their present community. All significant variables in model 2 continue in model 3, albeit that some odds ratios and significance scores slightly vary. The only community or county level variables that significantly predict how well residents like living in their present community is population size of community and county density, with county density minimally effecting whether a resident likes living in their present community. Also, Internet access continues to be highly significant in model 3. Population size of community lowers the odds of how well respondents like living in their present community, but is not as impactful as length of residence, satisfaction with community services, or distance. Population size's relation to how well residents like living in their present community as well as its relationship to distance of 1-2 hours and 2-3 hours from urban centers means that people living in smaller rural places may enjoy living in that community more than larger communities and that living close along the urban fringe, or beyond it without being too remote, are ideal communities to continue to live in. This also indicates that respondents that live 1-3 hours from



urban centers are still very connected to their community of place. In this sense, rural-urban continuum codes may not be as effective because those living in areas along the urban fringe, and those who live much further, are considered just as rural as one another in the classification of rural-urban continuum codes and therefore may report similar community attachment erroneously. Overall, how well a respondent likes living in their present community is predicted not only by social characteristics but also distance, services, and population size.

DISCUSSION

This study set out to understand how sentiments of community satisfaction and attachment are still affected by distance in an age where rural and urban communities are increasingly intertwined. This research hypothesized that lower levels of community satisfaction would be found outside of the urban fringe but would increase again in highly rural communities. It further hypothesized that community attachment would be higher the further away rural communities were from urban centers. This research also sought to explore how community satisfaction and attachment are related to additional local and county level spatial effects.

Overall, this research found the relationship of distance, size, and additional spatial effects of community sentiments to be significant, but in nuanced ways. The findings suggest that even though large socioeconomic changes are occurring to rural communities, rural communities that remain isolated or small still continue to exhibit different and unique criteria of community satisfaction and attachment than their suburbanized rural or urban counterparts. This supports researchers favoring spatial and ecological effects of community which conclude that though many rural places are becoming more urban, smaller towns and rural areas continue to exhibit traditional forms of community (Wuthnow 2013).



Distance was a significant predictor in three out of four variables measuring community satisfaction and attachment. Distance from urban centers showed two important relationships to community sentiments. First, remoteness continues to play a factor in how community satisfaction and attachment are perceived. Community satisfaction and a resident's subjective rating of how well they "fit" in their community revealed that highly rural populations as reporting dissatisfaction with their communities of place after accounting for social bonds and population size. Second, the third community attachment variable that asked about whether the respondent enjoyed living in their present community reported that rural residents living along the urban fringe or even farther out, enjoyed living in their communities significantly more that those living within fifty miles of urban centers. This suggests that even though rural and urban communities are blurring together, distance still reveals pockets of rural places that have different subjective sentiments towards their communities than urban residents. Although distance was not as influential as other factors, distance still matters in understanding how community forms in rural places. Just as other social phenomenon affect community satisfaction and attachment, so still does distance.

However, these findings also suggest that rural areas do not gradually become "more ruralized" because they exist farther away from urban centers. On the contrary, highly rural areas with improved community services report higher levels of community sentiment than less serviceable rural areas that may exist closer to urban areas. This suggests that lower levels of community sentiment should be studied more by comparing marginalized rural communities versus booming rural communities instead of on a rural-urban continuum. These assertions are confirmed in rural community research that suggests that it is not appropriate for researchers and policy makers to study rural areas as one homogenous body, nor as simply a rural-urban



continuum (Lichter and Brown 2011, Lobao 1996). Including highly rural communities in this study shows clearly how marginalized regions can also be remote, and therefore need to be treated as uniquely different when comparing them to other rural populations. Adding distance to the study of community sentiment in conjunction with other spatial variables provides for a more robust and clear analysis of rural community diversity.

In addition to distance, community population size was found to be a significant predictor of community satisfaction and one community attachment variable. The systemic model posited by Kasarda and Janowitz (1974) argued that population size was not significantly associated with sentiments of community attachment, as used by supporters of the Wirthian model that valued ecological concepts instead. Research building off of Kasarda and Janowitz's results has considered population as relatively unimportant in predicting community sentiment. However, this research argues that findings of Kasarda and Janowitz (1974) used a basic rural-urban continuum to measure population size and therefore was not detailed enough to pick up nuances that could be occurring across distance. Additionally, even though a categorical scale of population size was used in the analysis, population size was still significant. This means that even more precise measures of population size would potentially create an even more significant effect on sentiments of community satisfaction and attachment.

Additionally, as community population size increases, residents report lower levels of community satisfaction and dislike living in their communities more. This finding confirms past research that argues that the size of a community can influence how community is experienced (Wuthnow 2013). This may suggest that rural areas with small populations may find their place more enjoyable because of their appreciation of the smaller scale with which daily interaction occurs. This finding explains some of the nuance in the distance measure because though a



community might be remote, it may still gain some positive community satisfaction and attachment benefits because they are also smaller and tighter knit than larger rural communities or urban centers. Though, exactly how these two variables interact in more specific ways will need to be pursued by future researchers.

The most surprising and noteworthy predictor of sentiments of community satisfaction and attachment was satisfaction with community services. Previous studies have noted how the goods and services provided in a community can influence individual perceptions of community satisfaction (Brown et al. 1996; Filkins et al. 2000), but not community attachment. A lack of community services may reveal a lack of community action that could result in stronger subjective perceptions of community attachment (Theodori 2004). Therefore, there is a need for future work on community sentiments of attachment to build on collective action (Agnitsch, Flora, and Ryan 2006; Brehm, Eisenhauer, and Krannich 2004) and well as community development (Green and Haines 2012) to show how an increase in satisfaction with community services can positively impact sentiments of community attachment.

In contrast, county level indicators of amenities were not significant. The county level indicator of natural amenities is close to being significant in two of the community attachment models, but community services is significant and much more impactful in predicting community attachment. Though this may be because few residents were surveyed in extremely high or low areas of natural amenities in the sample, this research does suggest that satisfaction with better community services is a more significant predictor of community sentiment than the natural beauty of where a resident lives. Rural community residents may enjoy living in rural places, but in addition would also prefer to have access to more opportunities that exist in more urban areas or rural trade centers. Descriptive analysis (see appendix) on the use of outdoor



recreation shows that overall, participation in hunting, fishing, camping, and hiking is mostly the same throughout Montana, except remote eastern communities. Furthermore, these descriptive open response questions report that living in rural and nature places was important to residents, but regression analysis suggests that those who live in areas with higher natural amenity may also be less attached. This type of cognitive dissonance displays a dimension of the nuanced life of rural populations. Natural amenities may be important rural residents, but access to better services may win out in the end. Of course, since the measures of community services and natural amenities were at different hierarchal levels in this research, more research is needed to fully understand the battle between which is more impactful in determining community satisfaction or attachment: community services or natural amenities.

An important finding in this study was the negative relationship Internet access had on one of the community attachment variables. If this holds true, then this hints at how access to social media, goods, and other services available on the Internet may be damaging to sentiments of community attachment when residents wish their community would provide good and services that they know about through access to the Internet. Internet research helps to explain that though sentiments community attachment may be effected by the Internet, behavioral elements of community may not. Morgan (2004) argues that even though distance-destroying technologies have brought opportunities to people limited by distance, spatial reach should not be confused with social depth. He argues that social depth, or the social bonds that embed people into communities of place, have a much deeper impact on daily living and activities than the spatial reach of distance-destroying technologies. The empirical evidence in this study confirms this is the case when considering community. Even though Internet access was shown to be a significant predictor of a community attachment variable, social bonds, length of residence, and



local issues such as satisfaction of community services were stronger predictors of community satisfaction and attachment. Even though communities of place have been shaped by distance-destroying technologies such as the Internet, what occurs social in a community of place continues to matter when studying community.

It is important to mention that the systemic model variables taken from research descending from Kasarda and Janowitz (1974) were significant in the model. Social bonds and age are significant in all four models. Additionally, length of residence is significant in three of the four models. All of these variables predicted a great portion of the variance of community satisfaction, confirming past literature that suggest that stronger social cohesion can lead to higher levels of community satisfaction (Goudy 1977; Herting and Guest 1985). In addition to these variables, self-reported health also was a strong predictor of community satisfaction and attachment, presumably because better health allows individuals to interact with more people in their community as well as have the opportunity to be a fuller participant in the community.

This research has three main limitations. First, the research lacks multilevel modeling. This study did not use multilevel modeling but instead uses nested regression techniques, which assume higher level variables are treated in the same way as individual level variables in regression estimates. HLM modeling is not currently possible in this dataset because of the lack of spatial weights at each level in the sample. Though this is a limitation, strongly significant variables in the study would be just as significant in a two-level HLM model, and using HLM would show even more statistical significance at the county level.

Second, a straight line measure of distance was used to determine how far away respondents were from urban centers. Though the distance from every household to and urban center was pin-pointed by geo-referencing each address into ArcGIS 10, residents realistically



travel along highways to urban centers instead of travelling straight "as the crow flies." However, statistical significance was reached using the straight line distance variables. If roads were used as the exact distance travelled the results would only be intensified because each value of distance would increase to account for the curves and boundaries of roads.

Third, the data comes from an exceptionally rural state, which arguably may not represent other states that are more urban. Though the results from this study come from a highly rural and sparsely populated state, they can still be very useful if applied appropriately. Other western states are known for their vast amounts of space between cities and communities, which very well could play a unique role in how distance, size, and other spatial factors influence community experiences different than in less remote and higher populated states. Other countries with large amounts of remote areas, such as Canada or Australia, have similar situations with remote populations (Carson 2011; Kelly et al. 2011; Smith et al. 2008), which means this study's results can also provide beneficial information to researchers that study phenomenon in these remote areas of the world.

Additionally, though the dataset used in this study has a small population variance size from less than 500 people per community to just over 50,000 people per community, significance effect sizes from spatial variables in predicting community sentiments was reached. This means that in states with remote populations *and* highly populated metropolitan areas these spatial differences in community sentiments could potentially be even greater. However, such assumptions about the use of spatial effects in more urbanized states should be empirically replicated in different regions to see how these spatial effects relate to sentiments of community satisfaction and attachment.



CONCLUSION

Has the destruction of place-sensitive community become a reality? Not fully. Place continues to matter empirically, even in an age of increasing placelessness. This research shows how place and distance are theoretically and empricially justifiable in studying community sentiments. Furthermore, this research shows that there is evidence to suggest that community of place differences are essential to include in studies of community sentiment. Though urbanization and suburbanization has shifted spatial elements of rural community, there continues to be a large population of Americans, almost thirty million, who live in rural areas beyond the urban fringe that are influenced by spatial effects that still create distinct communities from urban areas, qualitatively and quantitatively. More specifically, community sentiment research needs to acknowledge distance as an empirically viable concept that shapes community sentiment. Kasarda and Janowitz's (1974) notions that rural places have been swallowed up in the mass consumer economy is too absolute and overlooks the potential effect that distance play in creating rural community. Place still matters in a post-modern age of consumer culture by shaping resident perceptions of community sentiment.

In addition to distance, community studies in sociology need to acknowledge that better community services increase community satisfaction as well as attachment in rural communities. Rural areas that do not have as many venues or opportunities to create lasting communal relationships from frequent involved interaction may feel a sense of dis-association with the communities in which they reside. Combining community sentiment literature with recreation/tourism and community action research may help to develop a stronger understanding of how community services influence sentiments of community satisfaction and attachment.



More specifically, community attachment literature has long debated about how rooted community attachment is to place. Future studies should look deeper into how community attachment works in an interconnected rural-urban world, and should be careful to account for how residents no longer stay rooted only in one community of place because of commuting or using the Internet. This may require more innovative conceptual changes to the literature that not only accounts for the multidimensionality of community attachment through using the more complex measures of community sentiment used in community psychology (McMillan and Chavis 1986; Peterson, Speer, and McMillan 2008), but also how social networks that exist within place-based communities interact or are mediated by commuting or online social networks.



REFERENCES

- Agnitsch, Kerry, Jan Flora, and Vern Ryan. 2006. "Bonding and Bridging Social Capital: The Interactive Effects on Community Action." *Community Development* 37(1):36-51.
- Altman, Irwin and Setha M. Low. 1992. Place Attachment. New York: Plenum Press.
- Basso, Keith H. 1996. *Wisdom Sits in Places: Landscape and Language Among the Western Apache*. Albuquerque, NM: University of New Mexico Press.
- Bauman, Zygmunt. 2001. Community: Seeking Safety in an Insecure World. Malden, MA: Polity Press.
- Bauman, Zygmunt. 2007. Consuming Life. Malden, MA: Polity Press.
- Beggs, John J., Jeanne S. Hurlbert, and Valerie A. Haines. 1996. "Community Attachment in a Rural Setting: A Refinement and Empirical Test of the Systemic Model." *Rural Sociology* 61(3): 407-426.
- Bernard, Josef. 2014. "Community Satisfaction in Czech Rural Communities: A Multilevel Model." *Sociologia Ruralis*. DOI: 10.1111/soru.12060.
- Brehm, Joan M., Brian W. Eisenhauer, and Richard S. Krannich. 2004. "Dimensions of Community Attachment and Their Relationship to Well-Being in the Amenity-Rich Rural West." *Rural Sociology* 69(3):405-429.
- Brown, David L., and Kai A. Schafft. 2011. *Rural People and Communities in the 21st Century: Resilience and Transformation*. Malden, MA: Polity Press.
- Brown, Ralph B. 1993. "Rural Community Attachment and Satisfaction in Mass Consumer Society." *Rural Sociology* 58(3):387-405.
- Brown, Ralph B., Clark D. Hudspeth, and Janet S. Odem. 1996. "Outshopping and the Viability of Rural Communities as Service/Trade Centers." *Journal of the Community Development Society* 27(1):90-112.
- Brown, Ralph B., Xu Xiaohe, John F. Toth Jr., and Albert B. Nylander III. 1998. "Historical Decline of Community Satisfaction in U.S. Rural Communities: A Multi-Regional Analysis of Synthetic Cohorts." *Research in Community Sociology* 8:183-199.
- Brown, Ralph B., Xu Xiaohe, Melissa A. Barfield, and Brayden G. King. 2000. "Community Experience and the Conceptual Distinctness or Rural Community Satisfaction and Attachment." *Research in Community Sociology* 10:427-446.
- Brown, Ralph B., Shawn F. Dorius and Richard S. Krannich. 2005. "The Boom-Bust Recovery Cycle: Dynamics of Change in Community Satisfaction and Social



Integration in Delta, Utah." Rural Sociology 70:28-49.

- Buttel, Frederick H., Oscar B. Martinson, and Eugene A. Wilkening. 1979. "Size of Place and Community Attachment: A Reconsideration." *Social Indicators Research* 6(4):475-485.
- Carson, Dean. 2011. "Political Economy, Demography, and Development in Australia's Northern Territory." *The Canadian Geographer* 55(2):226-242.
- Cairneross, Frances. 1997. The Death of Distance: How the Communications Revolution is *Changing Our Lives*. Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press.
- Campbell, Angus, Philip E. Converse, and Willard .L. Rodgers. 1976. *The Quality of American Life:Perceptions, Evaluations, and Satisfactions*. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Campbell, Angus. 1981. *The Sense of Well-Being in America: Recent Patterns and Trends.* New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Carr, Patrick J. and Maria J. Kefalas. 2009. *Hollowing Out the Middle: The Rural Brain Drain and What It Means for America*. Boston, MA: Beacon Press.
- Carrington, Kerry and Russell Hogg. 2011. "Benefits and Burdens of the Mining Boom for Rural Communities." *The Human Rights Defender* 20(2):9-11.
- Crowe, Jesscia. 2010. "Community Attachment and Satisfaction: The Role of a Community's Social Network Structure." *Journal of Community Psychology* 38(5):622-644.
- Dillman, Don A., Jolene D. Smyth, and Leah Melani Christian. 2009. *Internet, Mail and Mixed-mode Surveys: The Tailored Design Method* (3rd ed.). New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Eaton, Joe. 2014. "Bakken Oil Boom Brings Growing Pains to Small Montana Town," *National Geographic*, July 9. Retreived Sepember 23, 2014 (http://news.nationalgeographic.com/ news/special-features/energy/2014/07/140709-montana-oil-boom-bakken-shale).
- Ellis, Colter, Karen M. Douglas, Gene L. Theodori, and Cheryl L. Hudec. 2012. *The 2012 Texas Rural Survey: Public Services and Community Amenities*. Center for Rural Studies: Research and Outreach. Huntsville, TX: Sam Houston State University.
- Erickson, Lance D., Vaughn R. A. Call, and Ralph B. Brown. 2012. "SOS—Satisfied or Stuck, Why Older Rural Residents Stay Put: Aging in Place or Stuck in Place in Rural Utah." *Rural Sociology* 77(3):408-434.
- Flaherty, Jeremy and Ralph B. Brown. 2010. "A Multilevel Systemic Model of Community Attachment: Assessing the Relative Importance of the Community and Individual Levels." *American Journal of Sociology* 116(2):503-542.

Filkins, Rebecca, John C. Allen, and Sam Cordes. 2000. "Predicting Community



Satisfaction among Rural Residents." Rural Sociology 65(1):72-86.

- Foulkes, Matt and K. Bruce Newbold. 2008. "Poverty catchments: migration, residential mobility, and population turnover in impoverished rural Illinois communities." *Rural Sociology* 73(3):440–62.
- Friedman, Thomas L. 2006. *The World is Flat: A Brief History of The Twenty-First Century*. New York: Farrar, Straus, and Giroux.
- Fuguitt, Glenn V, Tim B. Heaton, and Daniel T. Lichter. 1988. "Monitoring the Metropolitanization Process." *Demography* 25(1):115–28.
- Galpin, Charles Josiah. 1915. *The Social Anatomy of an Agricultural Community*. Vol. 34. Agricultural Experiment Station of the University of Wisconsin.
- Gerson, Kathleen, C. Ann Stueve, and Claude S. Fischer. 1977. "Attachment to Place."
 Pp. 139-161 in *Networks and Places: Social Relations in the Urban Setting*, edited by Claude S. Fischer, Robert M. Jackson, C. A. Stueve, Kathleen Gerson, Lynn M. Jones, and Mark Baldassare. New York: Free Press.
- Gieryn, Thomas F. 2000. "A Space for Place in Sociology." *Annual Review of Sociology* 26:463 496.
- Goudy, Willis J. 1977. "Evaluations of Local Attributes and Community Satisfaction in Small Towns." *Rural Sociology* 42(3):371-381.
- Goudy, Willis J. 1990. "Community Attachment in a Rural Region." *Rural Sociology* 55(2):178-198.
- Green, Gary Paul. 2001. "Amenities and Community Economic Development: Strategies for Sustainability." *Journal of Regional Analysis and Policy* 31(2):61–75.
- Green, Gary Paul and Anna Haines. 2012. Asset Building and Community Development. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Hall, Margaret J., Jill Marsteller, and Maria Owings. 2010. "Factors Influencing Rural Residents' Utilization of Urban Hospitals." *National Health Statistics Reports* 31:1-12.
- Herting, J. and A. Guest. 1985. "Components of Satisfaction with Local Areas in the Metropolis." *The Sociology Quaterly* 26(1):99-115.
- Hummon, David M. 1990. Commonplaces: Community Ideology and Identity in American Culture. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.

Hummon, David M. 1992. "Community Attachment: Local Sentiment and Sense of Place." Pp.



253-278 in *Place Attachment*, edited by Irwin Altman and Setha M. Low. New York: Plenum Press.

- Kelly, Brian J., Terry J. Lewin, Helen J. Stain, Clare Coleman, Michael Fitzgerald, David Perkins, Vaughan J. Carr, Lyn Fragar, Jeffrey Fuller, David Lyle, John R. Beard. 2011.
 "Determinants of Mental Health and Well-being within Rural and Remote Communities." *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology* 46(12):1331-1342.
- Kasarda, John D. and Morris Janowitz. 1974. "Community Attachment in Mass Society." *American Sociological Review* 39(3):328-339.
- Lichter, David T. and Kenneth M Johnson. 2007. "The Changing Spatial Concentration of America's Rural Poor Population." *Rural Sociology* 72(3):331–58.
- Lichter, David T. and David L. Brown. 2011. "Rural America in an Urban Society: Changing Spatial and Social Boundaries." *Annual Review of Sociology* 37:565-592.
- Lobao, Linda. 1996. "A Sociology of the Periphery Versus a Peripheral Sociology: Rural Sociology and the Dimension of Space." *Rural Sociology* 61(1):77-102.
- Manzo, Lynne C. and Douglas D. Perkins. 2006. "Finding Common Ground: The Importance of Place Attachment to Community Participation and Planning." *Journal of Planning Literature* 20(4):335-350.
- Marans, Robert W. and Willard Rodgers. 1975. "Toward an Understanding of Community Satisfaction." Pp. 299-352 in *Metropolitan America in Contemporary Perspective*, edited by Amos H. Hawley and Vincent P. Rock. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Martin, Peter. 2002. "The Death of Geography." *Financial Times*, 22 February. Retrieved October 1, 2014 (http://www.ft.com/cms/s/2/6fb1b790-6267-11da-8dad000077 9e2340 .html#axzz3Ev8qh3Zs).
- McDonald, Theodore W., Stephanie M. Harris, and Elizabeth A. LeMesurier. 2005. "Mental Health Care Issues in a Predominantly Rural and Frontier State: Results and Implications from a Comprehensive Survey." *Journal of Rural Community Psychology* E8(1). Retrieved October 23, 2014 (http://www.marshall.edu/jrcp/8 1 McDonald.htm).
- McKnight, Matthew L. and Ralph B. Brown. 2014. "Review of Small-Town America: Finding Community, Shaping the Future." *American Journal of Sociology*. Forthcoming.
- Mcmillan, David and David Chavis. 1986. "Sense of Community: A Definition and Theory." *Journal of Community Psychology* 14(1):6-23.
- Morgan, Kevin. 2004. "The Exaggerated Death of Geography: Learning, Proximity and Territorial Innovation Systems." *Journal of Economic Geography* 4(1):3-21.



- Murdock SH, Krannich RS, Leistritz FL. 1999. *Hazardous Wastes in Rural America: Impacts, Implications and Options for Rural Communities*. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Nasar, Jack L. and David A. Julian. 1995. "The Psychological Sense of Community in the Neighborhood." *Journal of the American Planning Association* 61(2):178–84.
- Nord, Mark, Al E. Luloff, and Leif Jensen. 1995. "Migration and the Spatial Concentration of Poverty." *Rural Sociology* 60(3):399-415.
- Peterson, N. Andrew, Paul W. Speer, and David W. McMillan. 2008. "Validation of a Brief Sense of Community Scale: Confirmation of the Principal Theory of Sense of Community." *Journal of Community Psychology* 36(1):61-73.
- Ploch, L.A. 1985. "Migration Origin/Destination and Participation/Interaction." Pp. 91 109 in *The Structure and Impact of Population Redistribution in New England*, edited by Thomas E. Steahr and Al E. Luloff. University Park, PA: Northeast Regional Center for Rural Development.
- Putnam, Robert D. 2001. *Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American Community*. New York: Simon and Schuster.
- RAC. 2014. "Frontier: Frequently Asked Questions." Rural Assistance Center. Retrieved January 11, 2014 (http://www.raconline.org/topics/frontier/faqs/#howmuch).
- Reeder, Richard J., and Dennis M. Brown. 2005. "Recreation, tourism, and rural well-being." Economic Research Service. Washington, DC: US Department of Agriculture.
- Reichert, Christiane von, John B. Cromartie, and Ryan O. Arthun. 2014. "Reasons for Returning and Not Returning to Rural US Communities." *The Professional Geographer* 66(1):58-72.
- Relph, Edward. 1976. Place and Placelessness. London: Pion Limited.
- Ritzer, George. 2010. Enchanting a Disenchanted World: Revolutionizing the Means of Consumption. Thousand Oaks, CA: Pine Forge Press.
- Rodgers, Willard. 1980. "Residential Satisfaction in Relationship to Size of Place." Social *Psychology Quarterly* 43(4):436-441.
- Rutten, Roel, Hans Westlund, and Frans Boekema. 2010. "The Spatial Dimension of Social Capital." *European Planning Studies*, 18(6), 863-871.
- Salamon, Sonya. 2003. *Newcomers to Old Towns: Suburbanization of the Heartland*. Chicago, IL: The University of Chicago Press.
- Salamon, Sonya. 2003a. "From Hometown to Nontown: Rural Community Effects of



Suburbanization." Rural Sociology 68(1):1-24.

- Sanders, Scott R., Lance D. Erickson, Vaughn R. A. Call, Matthew L. McKnight, and Dawson W. Hedges. 2014. "Rural Health Care Bypass Behavior: How Community and Spatial Characteristics Affect Primary Health Care Selection." *The Journal of Rural Health*. Retrieved October 23, 2014 (http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/jrh.12093/full).
- Smith Karly B, John S. Humphreys, and Murray G. A. Wilson. 2008. "Addressing the Health Disadvantage of Rural Populations: How does Epidemiological Evidence inform Rural Health Policies and Research?" *Australian Journal of Rural Health* 16(2):56–66.
- Smith, Michael D., Richard S. Krannich, and Lori M. Hunter. 2001. "Growth, Decline, Stability, and Disruption: A Longitudinal Analysis of Social Well-Being in Four Western Rural Communities." *Rural Sociology* 66(3):425–450.
- SSCC. 2013. "Multiple Imputation in Stata: Introduction." Social Science Computing Cooperative. Retrieved April 11, 2014 (http://www.ssc.wisc.edu/sscc/pubs/stata_mi _intro.htm).
- Stern, Michael J., and Don A. Dillman. 2006. "Community Participation, Social Ties, and use of the Internet." *City & Community* 5(4):409-424.
- Stinner, William F., Mollie Van Loon, Seh-Woong Chung, and Yongchan Byun. 1990. "Community Size, Individual Social Position, and Community Attachment." *Rural Sociology* 55(4):494-521.
- Taylor, Ralph B., Stephen D. Gottfredson, and Sidney Brower. 1985. "Attachment to Place: Discriminant Validity, and Impacts of Disorder and Diversity." *American Journal of Community Psychology* 13(5):525-542.
- Theodori, Gene L. and Albert E. Luloff. 2000. "Urbanization and Community Attachment in Rural Areas." *Society and Natural Resources* 13(5):399-420.
- Theodori, Gene L. 2001. "Examining the Effects of Community Satisfaction and Attachment on Individual Well-Being." *Rural Sociology* 66(4):618-628.
- Theodori, Gene L. 2004. "Exploring the Association between Length of Residence and Community Attachment: A Research Note." *Southern Rural Sociology* 20(1):107-122.
- Trentelman, Carla Koons. 2009. "Place Attachment and Community Attachment: A Primer Grounded in the Lived Experience of a Community Sociologist." *Society and Natural Resources* 22(3):191-210.
- Tuan, Yi-Fu. 1977. Space and Place: The Perspective of Experience. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press.



- Ulrich-Schad, Jessica D., Megan Henly, and Thomas G. Safford. 2013. "The Role of Community Assessments, Place, and the Great Recession in the Migration Intentions of Rural Americans." *Rural Sociology* 78(3):371-398.
- US Census. 2013. "Geography: 2010 Census Urban and Rural Classification and Urban Area Criteria." Retrieved November 10, 2014 (https://www.census.gov/geo/reference/ua/urban -rural-2010.html).
- US Census. 2014. "State & County Quick Facts: Montana." Retrieved July 3, 2014 (http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/30000.html).
- USDA. 2012. "Data Products." Retrieved July 30, 2014 (http://www.ers.usda.gov/data products.aspx#.U918wfldWSo).
- USDA. 2012a. "County typology Codes: Documentation." Retreived October 14, 2014 (http://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/county-typology-codes/documentation .aspx#.VD2PIvldV8E).
- USDA. 2012b. "County typology Codes: Description and Maps." Retreived October 14, 2014 (http://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/county-typology-codes/descriptions-and-maps. aspx#.VD2PZ_ldV8G.)
- Young, Douglas J. and Grant Zimmerman. 2013. "Migration and Montana's Changing Demographics." *Montana Business Quarterly* 51(3):13-16.
- Voss, Paul R., David D. Long, Roger B. Hammer, and Samantha Friedman. 2006. "County Child Poverty Rates in the US: A Spatial Regression Approach." *Population Research and Policy Review* 25(4):369-391.
- Wagenfeld, Morton O. 2000. "Delivering Mental Health Services to the Persistently and Seriously Mentally III in Frontier Areas." *The Journal of Rural Health* 16(1):91-96.
- West, Alan N. 2009. "A ZIP Code Crosswalk for Applying Urban, Rural, and Highly Rural Classifications." Veterans of Rural Health Resource Center—Eastern Region.
- West, Alan N., Richard E. Lee, Michael D. Shambaugh-Miller, Byron D. Bair, Keith J. Mueller, Ryan S. Lilly, Peter J. Kaboli, and Kara Hawthorne. 2010. "Defining "Rural" for Veterans' Health Care Planning." *The Journal of Rural Health* 26(4):301-309.
- Wilkinson, Kenneth P. 1991. *The Community in Rural America*. Middleton, WI: Social Ecology Press.
- Winkler, Richelle, Kenneth M. Johnson, Cheng Cheng, Jim Beaudoin, Paul Voss, and Katherine Curtis. 2013. "Age-Specific Net Migration Estimates for US Counties, 1950-2010." Applied Population Laboratory. Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin-Madison. Retrieved March 6, 2014 (<u>http://www.netmigration.wisc.edu/</u>).



Wirth, Louis. 1938. "Urbanism as a Way of Life." American Journal of Sociology 44(1):1-24.

Wuthnow, Robert. 2013. *Small-Town America: Finding Community, Shaping the Future*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.



MAIN FINDINGS

Figure 1



Sample of Montana communities by distance from urban centroids

Figure 2

Community satisfaction by distance to urban centroids



Figure 3

Community attachment summary of index of fit, common, and like living variables by distance from urban centroids





Variable Descriptives (N=3,508)

Variable name	Mean	Standard deviation	Minimum value	Maximum value
Dependent variables				
Community Satisfaction	5.66	1.43	1	7
Fit in community	5.35	1.40	1	7
Have in common with most of the	4.59	1.25	1	7
community				
Like living in present community	3.74	1.07	1	5
Individual level				
Distance				
0-1 hour (ref)	.28	.45	0	1
1.01-2 hours	.43	.49	0	1
2.01-3 hours	.21	.41	0	1
3+ hours	.09	.28	0	1
Satisfaction with community services	4.35	1.08	1	7
People known by first name	1.68	.94	1	4
Number of close friends in community	12.19	12.82	0	80
Length of residence	.507	.34	0	1
Internet access	.80	.40	0	1
Self-reported health	3.51	.99	1	5
Age	56.90	15.39	16	100
Female	.57	.50	0	1
Married	.72	.45	0	1
Race				
Native American	.03	.18	0	1
White (ref)	.94	.23		
Hispanic/Latino (ref)	.01	.10		
African American/Black (ref)	.00	.02		
Asian/Pacific Islander (ref)	.00	.06		
Other (ref)	.01	.09		
Bachelor's degree or higher	.34	.47	0	1
Income	8.12	4.02	1	15
Unemployment	.06	.23	0	1
Community/County level				
Community population size	4.09	1.93	1	7
Community population loss	8.36	16.11	-16	91.62
County density	18.13	17.27	.7	56.2
Mining	.02	.15	0	1
Recreation counties	.27	.44	0	1
Retirement counties	.21	.41	0	1
Amenity scale	.61	.49	0	1



Ordinal logistic regression models predicting community satisfaction at individual and community/county level

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
Individual level			
Distance from urban centers			
0-1 hour (ref)			
1.01-2 hours	1.01	1.125	1.050
2.01-3 hours	1.069	1.161	1.016
3+ hours	1.099	.826	.554**
Satisfaction with community services		2.005***	2.211***
People known by first name		1.572***	1.388***
Number of close friends in		1.017***	1.019***
community			
Length of residence		1.182	1.380*
Internet access		.916	.941
Self-reported health		1.151**	1.125*
Age		1.020***	1.017***
Female		1.089	1.107
Married		.843	.786*
American Indian / Native American		.915	1.067
Bachelor's degree or higher		.888	.911
Income		1.015	1.017
Unemployment		.571**	.592**
Community/County level			
Community population size			.799***
Community population loss			1.004
County density			1.003
Mining			.379
Recreation counties			.912
Retirement counties			1.023
Amenity scale			.938

N=3,508 * $p \le .05$, ** p < .01, *** p < .001



Ordinal logistic regression models predicting fit in community at individual and community/county level

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
Individual level			
Distance from urban centers			
0-1 hour (ref)			
1.01-2 hours	.996	1.006	.909
2.01-3 hours	.959	.915	.798
3+ hours	1.389*	.742	.587*
Satisfaction with community services		1.723***	1.732***
People known by first name		1.977***	1.977***
Number of close friends in		1.027***	1.027***
community			
Length of residence		1.647***	1.655***
Internet access		1.071	1.065
Self-reported health		1.413***	1.411***
Age		1.006*	1.005*
Female		1.044	1.039
Married		1.089	1.064
American Indian / Native American		1.053	1.021
Bachelor's degree or higher		.970	.983
Income		1.012	1.013
Unemployment		.992	.962
Community/County level			
Community population size			.997
Community population loss			1.004
County density			.994
Mining			1.003
Recreation counties			1.093
Retirement counties			1.127
Amenity scale			.830†

N=3,508 * $p \le .05$, ** p < .01, *** p < .001 †=.057



Ordinal logistic regression me	odels predicting h	ave in commor	n with community	v at individual and
community/county level				

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
Individual level			
Distance from urban centers			
0-1 hour (ref)			
1.01-2 hours	.945	.967	.861
2.01-3 hours	1.018	.985	.860
3+ hours	1.957***	1.194	.799
Satisfaction with community services		1.646***	1.687***
People known by first name		1.930***	1.870***
Number of close friends in		1.018***	1.019***
community			
Length of residence		1.195	1.182
Internet access		1.025	1.027
Self-reported health		1.176***	1.171**
Age		1.001	1.000
Female		1.133*	1.135*
Married		1.286**	1.244*
American Indian / Native American		1.004	.999
Bachelor's degree or higher		.933	.935
Income		1.008	1.010
Unemployment		.893	.894
Community/County loval			
Community/County level			072
Community population loss			.973
Country dongity			1.005
Mining			.991 .
Pagrantian aduntian			.087
Recreation counties			.990
A manity goals			.077 0204
	001 1 054		.020

N=3,508 * $p \le .05$, ** p < .01, *** p < .001 †=.054



Ordinal logistic regression models predicting liking living in community at individual and community/county level

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
Individual level			
Distance from urban centers			
0-1 hour (ref)			
1.01-2 hours	1.292*	1.447**	1.424**
2.01-3 hours	1.252	1.422**	1.209*
3+ hours	1.683**	1.342	1.206
Satisfaction with community services		1.526***	1.626***
People known by first name		1.231***	1.121*
Number of close friends in		1.014***	1.015***
community			
Length of residence		2.106***	2.466***
Internet access		.774**	.776**
Self-reported health		1.127**	1.110*
Age		1.016***	1.014***
Female		.991	1.003
Married		1.041	.998
American Indian / Native American		1.237	1.398
Bachelor's degree or higher		.870	.894
Income		1.017	1.019
Unemployment		.751	.781
Community/County level			
Community population size			.843***
Community population loss			1.000
County density			1.008*
Mining			.599
Recreation counties			.984
Retirement counties			1.224
Amenity scale			1.028

N=3,508 * $p \le .5$, ** p < .01, *** p < .001



APPENDIX

Table 6

Participation in outdoor activities over the course of one year between remote residents and all other residents

Outdoor Activity	Distance from urban centers	0 times	1-4 times	5-9 times	10-14 times	15 times or more
Uniting	More than 3 hours	188 (77.05%)	28 (11.48%)	10 (4.10%)	7 (2.87%)	11 (4.51%)
Trunting	0-3 hours	1,954 (72.48%)	317 (11.76%)	129 (4.78%)	100 (3.71%)	196 (7.27%)
Fishing	More than 3 hours	198 (81.15%)	29 (11.89%)	6 (2.46%)	3 (1.23%)	8 (3.28%)
Tishing	0-3 hours	1,643 (60.27%)	552 (20.25%)	216 (7.92%)	126 (4.62%)	189 (6.93%)
Comping	More than 3 hours	190 (77.55%)	41 (16.73%)	6 (2.45%)	4 (1.63%)	4 (1.63%)
Camping	0-3 hours	1,476 (53.81%)	721 (26.29%)	286 (10.43%)	109 (3.97%)	151 (5.50%)
Hiking	More than 3 hours	157 (64.61%)	46 (18.93%)	16 (6.58%)	7 (2.88%)	17 (7.00%)
	0-3 hours	1,127 (40.69%)	688 (24.84%)	342 (12.35%)	197 (7.11%)	416 (15.02%)



Open ended responses on why residents like living in their present community, do not, or what is keeping them from moving

	Why do you like living in this community?	Freq	Why don't you like living in this community?	Freq	What is keeping you from moving someplace else?	Freq
1.	Small rural town/country	592	Other reasons	74	Spouse/family	130
2.	Friendly people/friends	474	Want more facilities (stores, shopping, entertainment, medical)	71	Job	128
3.	Outdoor activities	246	The people	54	Lack sufficient funds to move	93
4.	Scenic beauty	215	Weather	41	Other reasons	62
5.	Family	178	Lack of job opportunities	37	Selling home	53
6.	It's their home/always lived there/raised there	171	Lack of family	35		
	Total:	2,410		456		486
	Percentage of sample that answered the question (N= 3,508)	69%		13%		14%

